#### CRAWFORD v. CITY OF FAIRBURN, GA. Cite as 482 F.3d 1305 (11th Cir. 2007)

[7] As a final matter, because we find KH Outdoor lacks constitutional standing, we cannot reach the merits of its challenges, either as applied or under the overbreadth doctrine, to Clay County's sign ordinance. "[T]he overbreadth doctrine does not relieve a plaintiff of the burden to prove constitutional standing[;]" it is only an exception to one of the prudential requirements. CAMP Legal Def. Fund, Inc. v. City of Atlanta, 451 F.3d 1257, 1270 (11th Cir.2006); see also Bischoff v. Osceola County, Fla., 222 F.3d 874, 885 (11th Cir.2000) (analyzing the three constitutional prongs of standing before considering plaintiff's facial challenge under the overbreadth doctrine); Wis. Right to Life, Inc. v. Paradise, 138 F.3d 1183, 1186 (7th Cir. 1998) ("A litigant cannot create a case or controversy just by making an untenable 'facial' attack on a statute; actual injury and redressability are essential no matter how the challenge is cast.").

#### IV. CONCLUSION

Here, a favorable decision for KH Outdoor with respect to the sign code provisions challenged would not allow it to build its proposed signs, because the sign permit applications failed to meet other statutes and regulations that were not challenged. Because we find the appellants, KH Outdoor, L.L.C., MooreA, Inc., and Dale P. Eggers, lack standing, the district court's order dismissing the Second Amended Complaint for lack of jurisdiction is AF-FIRMED.



See Trinity Outdoor, L.L.C. v. City of Rockville, Md., 123 Fed.Appx. 101, 104–05 (4th Cir. 2005) (per curiam) (affirming the district court's holding that the billboard company's alleged injuries were not redressable by the

# Daniel CRAWFORD, Plaintiff-Appellant,

#### v.

# CITY OF FAIRBURN, GEORGIA, Defendant-Appellee.

# No. 06-13073.

United States Court of Appeals, Eleventh Circuit.

#### March 29, 2007.

**Background:** Former city police officer brought suit against city alleging that he was forced to resign in retaliation for conducting internal investigation of a female officer's complaints of sexual harassment. The United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, No. 04-02590-CV-CAM-1, Charles A. Moye, Jr., J., entered summary judgment in favor of city, and plaintiff appealed.

**Holding:** On reconsideration, the Court of Appeals, Pryor, Circuit Judge, held that officer failed to show that city's multiple proffered reasons for termination were mere pretext for discrimination.

Affirmed.

#### 1. Civil Rights 🖙 1536

If a Title VII plaintiff establishes a prima facie case of discrimination, the burden shifts to the employer to articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its actions. Civil Rights Act of 1964, § 701 et seq., 42 U.S.C.A. § 2000e et seq.

### 2. Civil Rights \$\$1536\$

If employer articulates a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its actions, after plaintiff has established prima facie

remedy it sought, in that the billboard company "was neither registered to do business in Maryland nor licensed to engage in the outdoor advertising business in that State"). case of discrimination under Title VII, the presumption of discrimination is rebutted, and the burden of production shifts to the plaintiff to offer evidence that the alleged reason of the employer is a pretext for illegal discrimination; the plaintiff must meet the reason proffered head on and rebut it. Civil Rights Act of 1964, § 701 et seq., 42 U.S.C.A. § 2000e et seq.

# 3. Federal Civil Procedure @=2497.1

If an employer proffers more than one legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason, in response to a plaintiff's prima facie case of discrimination under Title VII, the plaintiff must rebut each of the reasons to survive a motion for summary judgment. Civil Rights Act of 1964, § 701 et seq., 42 U.S.C.A. § 2000e et seq.

#### 4. Federal Civil Procedure @==2497.1

Summary judgment evidence offered by terminated city police officer that city administrator had stated that officer's investigation of female officer's complaints of sexual harassment had opened up a "can of worms" and was going to get the city sued, and had stated that inaccuracy of investigation was one of reasons officer was terminated, did not suggest falsity of multiple nondiscriminatory reasons offered by city for termination, such as officer's implementation of highway patrols and complaints of low morale and favoritism, even if such evidence suggested a retaliatory animus, and thus terminated officer failed to rebut city's proffered reasons on ground they were mere pretext for discrimination in violation of Title VII. Civil Rights Act of 1964, § 701 et seq., 42 U.S.C.A. § 2000e et seq.

#### 5. Civil Rights © 1536

Evidence of a discriminatory animus did not allow Title VII plaintiff, a terminated public employee, to establish pretext

\* Honorable John F. Nangle, United States District Judge for the Eastern District of Miswithout rebutting each of employer's proffered reasons for the termination. Civil Rights Act of 1964, § 701 et seq., 42 U.S.C.A. § 2000e et seq.

#### 6. Civil Rights @=1541

Under mixed motive analysis, once city met its burden of establishing that city police officer would have been terminated even if his investigation of sexual harassment complaints by female officer were not a factor in city's termination decision, which officer claimed was unlawful retaliation under Title VII, burden shifted back to officer to present evidence that his termination was motivated by an improper consideration. Civil Rights Act of 1964, § 701 et seq., 42 U.S.C.A. § 2000e et seq.

Christopher G. Moorman, Atlanta, GA, for Crawford.

Jennifer Humphrey Keaton, R. Read Gignilliat, Elarbee, Thompson, Sapp & Wilson, LLP, Atlanta, GA, for Defendant– Appellee.

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia.

Before BIRCH and PRYOR, Circuit Judges, and NANGLE,\* District Judge.

#### PRYOR, Circuit Judge:

Our previous opinion in this case issued on February 21, 2007. Upon *sua sponte* reconsideration of this appeal, we vacate our previous opinion and substitute the following opinion in its place.

Daniel Crawford appeals the summary judgment in favor of his employer, the

souri, sitting by designation.

#### CRAWFORD v. CITY OF FAIRBURN, GA. Cite as 482 F.3d 1305 (11th Cir. 2007)

City of Fairburn, and against his complaint of retaliation in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e–3(a). Because Crawford has failed to establish that the legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons the City offered for Crawford's termination were a pretext for discrimination, we affirm the summary judgment against Crawford's complaint.

# I. BACKGROUND

We describe the facts based on a review of the evidence in the light most favorable to Crawford. In September 2002, Officer Louise Tallman of the Fairburn Police Department filed an internal complaint of sexual harassment against Sergeant James Smith. In December 2002, Tallman filed an EEOC charge against the City that alleged age and sex discrimination based on Smith's alleged harassment.

In March 2003, the City hired Crawford to serve in its Police Department as a Major in the administration of Chief of Police Frederick Brown. Both men were hired to address pervasive problems of management and morale. Crawford oversaw the operations of the Department, including personnel matters and internal affairs investigations.

In November 2003, Tallman filed another internal complaint against Smith. Tallman alleged a second incident of sexual harassment that she believed occurred in response to her still-unresolved 2002 complaint. Crawford began investigating the complaint, and he added to his investigation allegations of insubordination, failure to support the Department, and engaging in gossip and rumors.

On December 11, 2003, the EEOC determined that it was more likely than not that Tallman experienced sexual harassment with respect to the charge she filed in 2002. Later in December 2003, Crawford met with Chief Brown, the City Administrator, and City attorneys to discuss his investigation of Tallman's complaints. In another meeting later that month, the City Administrator told Crawford that it was Crawford's fault that the EEOC was investigating the City, Crawford had "open[ed] up a can of worms," and Crawford's investigation was going to get the City sued.

On January 22, 2004, Crawford submitted the report of his investigation to Chief Brown. The one-page report stated findings of internal violations by Smith such as insubordination, failure to support the Department, and gossip; a finding of no violation with respect to the complaint of a hostile work environment; a finding of no violation with respect to Tallman's 2002 complaint of verbal harassment; and a finding that the 2003 incident, although intimidating, was not sexual harassment. The City Administrator and City Clerk read the report and concluded that the investigation had found no evidence of unlawful discrimination or harassment. The City Attorney then informed the EEOC that the investigation was complete and there had been no findings of Title VII violations against Tallman.

By February 2004, the City had become dissatisfied with Crawford's performance. Crawford had created a new traffic enforcement unit within the Department, and its occasional patrolling of Interstate 85 proved unpopular with the City Administrator. Crawford was also involved with the termination, reinstatement, and resignation of a disgruntled police dispatcher in December 2003. The Mayor and City Council took interest in the alleged problems with scheduling, understaffing, and morale in the dispatch department. The City Administrator then raised several of his concerns about the Police Department, including staff discontent, unfair scheduling practices, poor management, and poor communication with the City-but not including the sexual harassment allegations—and recommended that Crawford be terminated, and the Council agreed. The Administrator explained to Chief Brown that Crawford would be terminated because of the problems involving the patrolling of Interstate 85, the dispatchers, and Crawford's investigation of Tallman's complaints. Brown allowed Crawford to resign on February 27, 2004.

After his resignation, Crawford filed an EEOC charge, and the EEOC issued a notice of right to sue. Crawford sued the City and complained that the City had retaliated against him for conducting the Tallman investigation. The City moved for summary judgment. The district court concluded that Crawford had engaged in protected activity but failed to establish that the legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons for Crawford's termination proffered by the City were pretextual. The district court granted summary judgment for the City.

# II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

We review a grant of summary judgment *de novo* and view the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Brooks v. County Comm'n*, 446 F.3d 1160, 1161–62 (11th Cir.2006). Summary judgment should be granted if "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Fed. R.Civ.P. 56(c).

#### III. DISCUSSION

[1-3] Crawford relies on circumstantial evidence to support his complaint of retaliation, and we will assume, without deciding, that Crawford established a prima facie case of retaliation. If a Title VII plaintiff establishes a prima facie case of discrimination, the burden shifts to the employer to articulate a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its actions. McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802-03, 93 S.Ct. 1817, 1824-25, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973). If the employer articulates a legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its actions, "the presumption of discrimination is rebutted, and the burden of production shifts to the plaintiff to offer evidence that the alleged reason of the employer is a pretext for illegal discrimination." Wilson v. B/E Aerospace, Inc., 376 F.3d 1079, 1087 (11th Cir.2004); see also Tex. Dep't of Cmty. Aff. v. Burdine, 450 U.S. 248, 255-56, 101 S.Ct. 1089, 1094-95, 67 L.Ed.2d 207 (1981). The plaintiff must meet the reason proffered head on and rebut it. Wilson, 376 F.3d at 1088. If the employer proffers more than one legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason, the plaintiff must rebut each of the reasons to survive a motion for summary judgment. Chapman v. AI Transp., 229 F.3d 1012, 1037 (11th Cir.2000) (en banc).

[4] The City produced evidence that Crawford was terminated for five nondiscriminatory reasons: the inaccuracy of the Tallman investigation, patrols and traffic stops on Interstate 85, complaints relating to officer pay, problems with the dispatchers, and complaints of low morale and favoritism. On appeal, Crawford does not attempt to rebut any of these reasons. Instead, he has presented evidence that the City Administrator stated in December 2003 that Crawford's investigation of Officer Tallman's complaints had opened up a "can of worms" and was going to get the City sued. Crawford also points to the Administrator's February 2004 statement to Chief Brown that the inaccuracy of the investigation was one of the reasons Crawford was terminated.

We need not address whether the belief of the City that Crawford's investigation was inaccurate was a legitimate, nondis-

#### AMBROSIA COAL & CONST. CO. v. PAGES MORALES Cite as 482 F.3d 1309 (11th Cir. 2007)

criminatory reason or evidence of illegal discrimination. What it is not is evidence that the City's other proffered reasons were false. Likewise, the December 2003 statements of the administrator do not raise questions about the truthfulness of any of the proffered reasons. Viewed in the light most favorable to Crawford, they suggest a retaliatory animus, but they do not respond to the explanation of the City that Crawford's performance was unsatisfactory in four other areas of his responsibility.

[5] Crawford erroneously argues that evidence of a discriminatory animus allows a plaintiff to establish pretext without rebutting each of the proffered reasons of the employer. The cases he cites for this proposition are inapposite, because in each case the plaintiff presented evidence that directly rebutted the proffered reasons of the employer. See Wilson, 376 F.3d at 1090-91 (evidence that decisionmaker believed that plaintiff was more qualified than promoted employee); Damon v. Fleming Supermarkets of Fla., Inc., 196 F.3d 1354, 1363-66 (11th Cir.1999) (evidence that plaintiff did not perform poorly and that the decisionmaker had engaged in the same rule violation for which plaintiff was terminated); Ross v. Rhodes Furniture, Inc., 146 F.3d 1286, 1291 (11th Cir. 1998) (evidence that supervisor had engaged in activity for which plaintiff was terminated). By failing to rebut each of the legitimate, nondiscriminatory reasons of the City, Crawford has failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact about whether those reasons were pretext for discrimination.

[6] Crawford has also failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact under a "mixed motive" analysis. *See generally Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins*, 490 U.S. 228, 244–45, 109 S.Ct. 1775, 1787–88, 104 L.Ed.2d 268 (1989) (plurality opinion). The City met its burden of establishing

that Crawford would have been terminated even if his investigation was not a factor when it presented evidence of the other nondiscriminatory reasons for his termination. See Pulliam v. Tallapoosa County Jail, 185 F.3d 1182, 1186 (11th Cir.1999). The burden then shifted back to Crawford to present evidence that his termination was motivated by an improper consideration. Because Crawford has failed to establish that the explanation of the City was pretextual, he has also failed to establish that the City was motivated by the consideration of an impermissible factor. See id. at 1186 n. 6.

# IV. CONCLUSION

The summary judgment for the City is AFFIRMED.

EY NUMBER SYSTE

AMBROSIA COAL & CONSTRUC-TION COMPANY, a Pennsylvania corporation, Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Hector Carlos PAGES MORALES, Isla Verde Beach Hotel & Casino, S.E., et al., Defendants-Appellees.

#### No. 05-14255.

United States Court of Appeals, Eleventh Circuit.

#### April 2, 2007.

**Background:** Parent corporation, which was party to prior settlement agreement with defendants, brought action alleging fraudulent inducement and asserting both state law claims and claims under the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Or-